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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 115512
Juneau, Alaska 99811-5512

	KENNETH L. MONZULLA, 

                                      Employee, 

                                      Petitioner
                                       v. 

VOORHEES CONCRETE CUTTING,

                                       Employer,

                                       and 

ALASKA NATIONAL INSURANCE

COMPANY,

                                        Insurer,

                                        Respondents.

	)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)
	FINAL DECISION AND ORDER ON 
RECONSIDERATION

AWCB Case No.  199922832
AWCB Decision No. 11-0090   

Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

on June 22, 2011


On February 17, 2011, Kenneth L. Monzulla’s (Employee) Petition on reconsideration of AWCB Decision No. 10-0183 (November 9, 2010) (Monzulla XI) was heard in Anchorage, Alaska on the written record.  Attorney James Hackett represented the employee.  Attorney Richard Wagg represented Voorhees Concrete Cutting and Alaska National Insurance Company (collectively Employer).   The record closed after the board met on February 22, 2011, to consider the parties’ briefs.


ISSUES

Employee contends the board made several errors in Monzulla XI.  Specifically, Employee contends the board failed to determine whether:

1) The activities on the videotapes are consistent or inconsistent with the 2000 Functional Capacities Evaluation (FCE) at Fairbanks Memorial Hospital;

2) Employee was malingering;

3) The concordant discography done in 2001 was an accepted diagnostic test; and

4) The 2001 concordant discography was consistent with Employee’s ongoing request for narcotic prescriptions.

Additionally, Employee contends the board did not properly review and consider the following:

1) The Second Independent Medical Evaluation (SIME) report;

2) The various medical reports for signs of symptom magnification; and 

3) Medical records from Dr. Peterson to determine who cancelled the scheduled surgery on Employee’s back.  

Employee further contends the board erred in determining Employee did not prove his claim for medical treatment by a preponderance of the evidence and in denying Employee ongoing medical treatment, including prescription drugs and back surgery.  Employee also contends the finding he misrepresented his physical capacities to Employer’s adjuster and to his treating doctors, in order to obtain, by fraud, ongoing medical treatment was in error.  Employee contends the approved Compromise and Release (C&R) guaranteed his right to seek reasonable medical treatment in the future and the finding Employee was no longer entitled to ongoing medical treatment for the work injury based on his misrepresentations of his current physical capacities was in error.  Therefore, Employee contends he is entitled to an updated concordant discography as Dr. Peterson suggested in 2007.  Employee also asserts the Board lacked jurisdiction to hear his claim because the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission’s (AWCAC) memorandum decisions were “contested, void” orders and a de novo hearing in Fairbanks, Alaska was necessary.  Finally, Employee requests the board order Dr. Swanson to produce a copy of his recorded examination of Employee on October 16, 2007, and to order Employee to produce a copy of his recording of the same examination.  Employee asks these recordings to be made a part of the record.  

Employer opposes Employee’s Petition for Reconsideration and, additionally, seeks clarification of several points in Monzulla XI.  Employer contends venue in Anchorage was proper since the Alaska Supreme Court refused to stay the AWCAC’s orders and, although AWCAC subsequently issued an order (Municipality of Anchorage and NovaPro Risk Solutions  v. Mark McKitrick, AWCAC Memorandum Decision No. 136 (June 30, 2010)), finding AWCAC did not have jurisdiction to hear appeals from interlocutory decisions, Employee did not seek further stay of proceedings in the matter before the board after the AWCAC’s decision, effectively waiving his objection.  Nonetheless, Employer asserts more specific findings, in light of the videotapes, should be made to determine if the 2000 FCE is outdated and irrelevant.  Employer also contends more specific findings should be made regarding malingering and the appropriateness and relevance of the 2001 concordant discography to the current disputes.  

1) Did the board, sitting in Anchorage in 2010, have jurisdiction to hear Employee’s workers’ compensation claim?

2) Who cancelled Employee’s back surgeries previously approved by Employer and scheduled with Dr. Delamarter in California?

3) Is Concordant Discography an accepted diagnostic tool for back pain?

4) Is the 2001 concordant discography relevant to evaluating Employee’s back condition in 2011, and if not, should an updated concordant discography be ordered?

5) Did Employee violate AS 23.30.250 when he submitted a receipt for hot tub use to Employer’s adjuster and asked for payment?

6) Did Employee misrepresent his physical capacities in order to obtain ongoing narcotic prescriptions?

7) Is Employee entitled to a new FCE?

8) Is Employee now malingering from the effects of his 1999 work injury?

9) Should Dr. Swanson and Employee be ordered to produce copies of their respective recordings of the October 16, 2007, examination?


FINDINGS OF FACT 

The findings of fact in Monzulla XI are adopted herein by reference.  In addition, the preponderance of the evidence available in the record establishes the following:

1) In Monzulla XI, the following Conclusions of Law
 were made:

a) Disc replacement surgery at L4-L5 and L5-S1 sought by Employee is not reasonable and necessary as the result of the 1999 work injury.

b) Employee’s ongoing prescriptions for narcotic medications are no longer reasonable and necessary for the 1999 work injury.

c) The board does not have jurisdiction to determine if AS 23.30.250 is unconstitutional.

d) The Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act does not require an allegation under AS 23.30.250 to be pled with particularity as defined in the Alaska Rules of Civil Procedure.

e) Employee obtained medical treatment by knowingly making false or misleading statements, representations, or submissions for the purpose of obtaining medical benefits and on which the Insurer relied in providing medical benefits. 

f) Employer is entitled to full reimbursement of the cost of all benefits obtained by Employee based upon his false and misleading statements.  If Employee does not pay Employer pursuant to this Decision & Order, Employer may seek a board order declaring Employee in default.

g) Employer and Employer’s carrier are entitled to reimbursement of all reasonable costs and attorney fees incurred in obtaining this order that Employee knowingly made false and misleading statements and representations to obtain benefits and all reasonable costs and attorney fees incurred in defending Employee’s claims for medical benefits.

h) The MRI performed by Alaska Open Imaging was reasonably and necessarily related to Employee’s 1999 work injury and is compensable.

2) The following order
 was made in Monzulla XI:
a) Employee’s claim for ongoing medical treatment is denied.

b) Employer’s petition for a finding of violation of AS 23.30.250(b) is granted.

c) Employee is ordered to reimburse Employer fully for the cost of all medical benefits obtained by Employee in the total sum of $42,754.70, within 14 days of the date of this Decision & Order.

d) Within 10 days of issuance of this decision and order, Employer is ordered to file an affidavit of attorney fees and costs, itemizing all reasonable costs and attorney’s fees incurred by Employer and it’s insurer in obtaining this order and defending Employee’s claim for benefits.

e)  Employee shall have 14 days to object to any portion of Employer’s affidavit Employee believes is not reasonable.

f) Employer is ordered to pay the cost, including interest, for the MRI performed by Alaska Open Imaging in April 2009.

3) Employee filed a Petition for Reconsideration on November 26, 2010 (record). 

4) Employer filed a Memorandum in support of Clarification of Decision and Opposition to Petition for Reconsideration on November 29, 2010 (record). 

5) On December 7, 2010, Final Decision and Order on Reconsideration, AWCB No. 10-0200, was issued establishing a briefing schedule for additional briefing on several issues raised in the Petition for Reconsideration (record).

6) Parties filed simultaneous briefs on January 28, 2011, and simultaneous reply briefs on February 7, 2011 (record).

7) The board met in telephonic conference on February 28, 2011, to deliberate.
8) On August 6, 2009, AWCAC issued Decision No. 114, which  reversed a prior board decision denying Employer’s Petition to change venue from Fairbanks to Anchorage and ordered venue changed to Anchorage (AWCAC Decision No. 114).
9) On April 1, 2010, the Alaska Supreme Court denied Employee’s emergency motion to stay AWCAC Decision 114 and the order changing venue to Anchorage (Alaska Supreme Court No. S-113640 Order).  

10) On September 25, 2003, Employee saw Davis Peterson, M.D., on referral from Laurence Stinson, M.D.  Dr. Peterson noted Employee’s pain pattern was somewhat atypical and suspected a chemical radiculitis originating at L5-S1.  He found no evidence of Waddell’s signs (test for symptom magnification) (Peterson chart note, September 25, 2003).
11) Employee saw Dr. Peterson again on October 30, 2003, when Dr. Peterson reviewed three options with Employee, including disc replacement surgery with Dr. Delamarter (Peterson chart note, October 30, 2003).
12) Dr. Peterson did not see Employee again until January 2006 for one appointment (Peterson deposition, May 27, 2010, at 36).
13) Employee scheduled surgery with Dr. Delamarter for March 21, 2007.  Employer authorized this surgery but Employee cancelled it.  (Delamarter’s Surgery Checklist). 
14) Employee rescheduled surgery for April 13, 2007.  This surgery was authorized by Employer and cancelled by Employee (id.).   
15) Employee again scheduled surgery for August 21, 2007, but on August 20, 2007, Employee on advised Dr. Delamater’s office he was not ready because he was finishing with authorized physical therapy (id.)
16) Adjuster Madeline Rush authorized the August 2007 surgery as well as the March and April 2007 surgery dates (Rush).
17) Ms. Rush also authorized Employee’s blood donations in anticipation of surgery at the request of Dr. Delamarter.  Employer paid for the first donation and when Employee did not make the subsequent donation, the August surgery date was cancelled (Rush).
18) Ms. Rush is a credible witness based on her demeanor, her consistent testimony, her extensive knowledge of Employee’s claim, and the consistency of her testimony with Dr. Delamarter’s record.  
19) Employer did not withdraw authorization for the August 2007 surgery until Employee’s claim was controverted in November 2007, following the EME with Dr. Swanson on October 16, 2007.
20) Employee cancelled the March, April  and August surgery dates.  Employee  was not ready for surgery in August 2007 although Employer authorized that surgery as well.  Employer did withdraw authorization for the proposed surgery by Dr. Delamarter following its EME with Dr. Swanson in October 2007 (record).
21) Concordant discography is an accepted tool as it was utilized by Dr. Stinson in making treatment recommendations.  It was the basis for medical treatment in 2001-2003 (Stinson medical records).  However, the 2001 study is not relied upon in determining Employee’s current need for medical treatment (Monzulla XI).   
22) Dr. Swanson examined Employee in 2008 for an EME.  He found no objective evidence of radiculopathy and Employee had no muscle weakness or atrophy.  Employee’s primary problem was spondylosis for which the best treatment is exercise (Swanson).
23) The MRIs in 2007 and 2009 are given substantial weight over the 2001 concordant discography which is outdated.  The 2007 and 2009 MRIs are given more weight because they are the most recent objective evidence demonstrating the state of Employee’s back.  These tests are more probative and relevant to whether Employee currently needs ongoing medical treatment for his 1999 work injury.  
24) The MRI from 2007, when compared to the 2004 MRI reveals Employee’s condition has improved.  The November 12, 2007 MRI shows the disc disease has diminished and the L5/S1 disc is stable with less encroachment into the left neural foramen (November 12, 2007 MRI).
25) The April 13, 2009 MRI shows stability with mild neural foramen encroachment (April 13, 2009, MRI). 
26) The 2007 and 2009 MRIs show improvement in Employee’s back condition.
27) In 2011, the recent MRI studies are substantial evidence demonstrating Employee’s back has improved (2009 MRI).
28) The MRIs are credible evidence of Employee’s current physical condition and more probative of his current physical condition than the 2001 concordant discography and the 2000 FCE.
29) On April 10, 2010, Employee saw Kim Thiele, D.O., for back manipulation.  
Dr. Thiele states “Old Urine drug screen came up negative for vicodin.  It shows up as Oxy, which the MA entering the date at the time wouldn’t have known” (Thiele April 20, 2010 chart note).
30) The above medical record was not submitted as evidence at the August 17, 2010 hearing and is thus not being considered at time.  Furthermore, in the alternative, had the document been submitted timely to be considered at the August 17, 2010 hearing, Dr. Thiele does not identify to what “old drug screen” he is referencing and so his report is ambiguous and unreliable.  
31) Attached to Employee Monzulla’s Reply to Voorhees’ Memorandum on Reconsideration is a transcript for the June 5, 2008 board hearing in Fairbanks.  
32) Dr. Davidhizar testified on June 5, 2008, he preferred Employee not undergo surgery as his preference was for Employee to swim and exercise.  He also testified Employee told him Employee’s back improved with hot tub use (Transcript June 5, 2008 hearing at 65-66).
33) Dr. Davidhizar also testified Employee did not tell him in May 2006, Employee had been working 10 hours a day and such information would have been useful in determining the kind of treatment was reasonable and necessary for Employee.  Rather, he learned from Employer’s counsel about Employee working at the sawmill (id. at 67-68).  
Dr. Davidhizar noted Employee frequently complained of increased back pain (id.).
34) Employee asked Dr. Davidhizar about changes in his condition between May 16, 2006, and June 21, 2006, stating “[t]hat’s the time that I was helping Mr. Burkhardt on his sawmill operations” (id. at 58).
35) Employee’s question to the doctor at hearing is not evidence Employee told 
Dr. Davidhizar in June 2006 he had been working at the sawmill working 10 hours a day. 
36) Dr. Davidhizar stated his medical records do not reflect any change in Employee’s condition as of June 2006 (id.). 
37) Dr. Davidhizar did know at Employee’s June 2006 examination Employee had been splitting wood which aggravated his back (id. at 69). 
38) On February 13, 2008, EME physician, Dr. Swanson stated Employee’s range of motion on the videos far exceeded his range of motion upon presentation for the EME on October 16, 2007.  He opined the videotape indicated Employee was “probably malingering.”  He further opined Employee needed no additional medical treatment or narcotics but continuation of his level of exercise would be good therapy.  Furthermore, surgery, including disc replacement, would be unlikely to improve his functioning (Swanson, EME report, February 13, 2008). 
39) Fred Blackwell, M.D., SIME physician, examined Employee on August 7, 2008.  He took a history from and physically examined Employee.  To Dr. Blackwell, Employee seemed clinically depressed and exhibited pain behaviors that seemed excessive.  Employee reported to Dr.  Blackwell that reaching, twisting, bending, leaning, and lifting more than 15 pounds increased his pain.  Employee reported he was able to walk for 20 minutes and sit for one hour.  Employee also reported no employment since 2000.  Dr. Blackwell related Employee’s chronic muscoligamentous strain/sprain thoracal lumbar spine and lumbar disc dysfunction to the 1999 work injury (Blackwell, deposition, September 25, 2008, at 10, 21, 25).
40) Dr. Blackwell stated Employee’s scoliosis pre-existed the work injury and his muscle imbalance became a problem for recovery after the work injury due to the chronic imbalance of the spine caused by the scoliosis (id. at 26). 
41) Dr. Blackwell opined, although Employee’s MRIs showed some abnormalities, these could not be the cause of his problems (id at 29).  However, according to Dr. Blackwell, Employee’s condition did not fall into a black/white area indicating a basis for surgery (id at 32).  Employee did not have the kind of objective findings to squarely support a need for surgery (id. at 38).
42) Dr. Blackwell further expected Employee would need to get up and move around an airplane when flying more than 2 ½ hours at a time and if Employee did not get up and move on such a flight it would call into question Employee’s credibility (id. at 34).  If these facts were true, Dr. Blackwell noted Employee’s allegations of impairment were factually unsupported (id. at 40).
43) Moreover, Dr. Blackwell opined operating a saw mill and working with pieces of wood 4 x 6 x 4 feet were not activities consistent with limitations Employee represented he has (id. at 41).  Furthermore, when Employee was working twenty-seven days out of thirty-three days, Dr. Blackwell indicated he should have needed significant medical care  and information regarding Employee so working would impact the need for surgery (id. at 42).
44) Dr. Blackwell further opined if the man in the videos is Employee, then Employee does not need surgery (id. at 46).
45) Dr. Blackwell also opined he would need to know the kind of activities Employee was doing and the kind of narcotics Employee was taking prior to approving Employee for surgery (id. at 55).
46) Dr. Peterson opined the activities seen on the videos called into question the validity of Employee’s complaints of disability, level of pain, and limitations associated with the pain (Peterson deposition, May 27, 2010, at 51).
47) Dr. Peterson noted some resorption of disc herniation “which you’d expect as part of the natural history” but he would not rule out disc replacement surgery as a means to diminish narcotic use and reduce daily pain (id. at 38-39). 
48) Dr. Peterson also stated the kind of work history (working 27 days out of 33) “is pretty impressive for someone that has chronic disabling back pain, or claims to have.  So it seems to be a little inconsistent as far as the type of pain presentation that I recall from the record” (id. at 60). 
49) Employee admitted the board “had no choice but to honor the Commission’s challenged venue and stay orders placing venue in Anchorage and to proceed to hearing, because Commission orders control Board proceedings” (Employee Monzulla’s Reply to Voorhees’ Memorandum on Reconsideration).
PRINCIPLES OF LAW

The Alaska Administrative Procedure Act at AS 44.62.540 provides, in part:

(a) The agency may order a reconsideration of all or part of the case on its own motion or on petition of a party.  To be considered by the agency, a petition for reconsideration must be filed with the agency within 15 days after delivery or mailing of the decision.  The power to order a reconsideration expires 30 days after the delivery or mailing of a decision to the respondent.  If no action is taken on a petition within the time allowed for ordering reconsideration, the petition is considered denied.

(b) The case may be reconsidered by the agency on all the pertinent parts of the record and the additional evidence and argument that are permitted. . . .

In looking at Alaska R. Civ. P. 77 (granting authority to the superior court to hear motions for reconsideration), the Alaska Supreme Court has stated “we refuse to allow a motion for reconsideration to be used as a means to seek an extension of time for the presentation of additional evidence on the merits of the claim.”  Neal & Co., Inc. v. Association of Village Council Presidents Regional Housing Authority, 895 P.2d 497, 506 (Alaska 1995).  The purpose of Rule 77, like the purpose of AS 44.62.540, is to allow the court “to remedy mistakes in judicial-making where gounds exist.”  Id. 

AS 23.30.008. Powers and duties of the commission.  (a) The commission shall be the exclusive and final authority for the hearing and determination of all questions of law and fact arising under this chapter in those matters that have been appealed to the commission, except for an appeal to the Alaska Supreme Court. The commission does not have jurisdiction in any case that does not arise under this chapter or in any criminal case. On any matter taken to the commission, the decision of the commission is final and conclusive, unless appealed to the Alaska Supreme Court, and shall stand in lieu of the order of the board from which the appeal was taken. Unless reversed by the Alaska Supreme Court, decisions of the commission have the force of legal precedent (Emphasis added).

AS 23.30.110. Procedure on claims . . . .
(g) An injured employee claiming or entitled to compensation shall submit to the physical examination by a duly qualified physician which the board may require. The place or places shall be reasonably convenient for the employee. The physician or physicians as the employee, employer, or carrier may select and pay for may participate in an examination if the employee, employer, or carrier so requests. Proceedings shall be suspended and no compensation may be payable for a period during which the employee refuses to submit to examination.

The Alaska Supreme Court in Municipality of Anchorage v. Carter, 818 P.2d 661, 664 (Alaska 1991), held the Act does not require the Board to provide “continuing or palliative care in every instance.  Rather, the statute grants the Board discretion to award such ‘indicated’ care ‘as the process of recovery may require.’”  The Court continued “the process of recovery” allows for palliative care when such care enables an employee’s recovery from individual attacks caused by a chronic condition.  Id. at 666.

In Phillip Weidner & Associates, Inc. v. Hibdon, the Alaska Supreme Court noted “when the Board reviews a claim for continued treatment beyond two years from the date of injury, it has discretion to authorize “indicated” medical treatment “as the process of recovery may require.”  Carter, 818 P.2d at 664.  “Because the treatment was provided more than two years after the injury, the board’s inquiry should not have been limited to whether the treatment sought is reasonable and necessary, but should have been expanded, as it had the discretion to choose among reasonably effective medical treatment alternatives, as the process of recovery requires.”  Voorhees Concrete Cutting v. Monzulla, AWCAC Decision No. 068 at fn.36 (February 4, 2008).  Given this discretion, the Board is not limited to reviewing the reasonableness and necessity of the particular treatment sought, but has some latitude to choose among reasonable alternatives.  Id. at 665.  Additionally, the board may order an SIME on its own initiative.  Dwight v. Humana Hosp. Alaska, 876 P.2d 1114, 1120 (Alaska 1994). 

AS 23.30.095.  Medical treatments, services, and examinations.   The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires, not exceeding two years from and after the date of injury to Claimant. . . .  

(k)
In the event of a medical dispute regarding determinations of causation, medical stability, ability to enter a reemployment plan, degree of impairment, functional capacity, the amount and efficacy of the continuance of or necessity of treatment, or compensability between the employee's attending physician and the employer's independent medical evaluation, the board may require that a second independent medical evaluation be conducted by a physician or physicians selected by the board from a list established and maintained by the board. The cost of an examination and medical report shall be paid by the employer. The report of an independent medical examiner shall be furnished to the board and to the parties within 14 days after the examination is concluded. A person may not seek damages from an independent medical examiner caused by the rendering of an opinion or providing testimony under this subsection, except in the event of fraud or gross incompetence.

AS 23.30.122.  Credibility of witnesses.  The board has the sole power to determine the credibility of a witness. A finding by the board concerning the weight to be accorded a witness's testimony, including medical testimony and reports, is conclusive even if the evidence is conflicting or susceptible to contrary conclusions. The findings of the board are subject to the same standard of review as a jury's finding in a civil action.

In Municipality of Anchorage v. Devon, 124 P.3d 424, 429 (Alaska 2005), the Alaska Supreme Court noted the board has exclusive authority to determine  the credibility of witnesses and will review such determinations on an abuse of discretion standard if the court is left with a firm conviction the decision was a mistake.   (Id.). 
AS 23.30.250.  Penalties for fraudulent or misleading acts; damages in civil actions. (a) A person who (1) knowingly makes a false or misleading statement, representation, or submission related to a benefit under this chapter; (2) knowingly assists, abets, solicits, or conspires in making a false or misleading submission affecting the payment, coverage, or other benefit under this chapter; (3) knowingly misclassifies employees or engages in deceptive leasing practices for the purpose of evading full payment of workers' compensation insurance premiums; or (4) employs or contracts with a person or firm to coerce or encourage an individual to file a fraudulent compensation claim is civilly liable to a person adversely affected by the conduct, is guilty of theft by deception as defined in AS 11.46.180, and may be punished as provided by AS 11.46.120-11.46.150.

(b) If the board, after a hearing, finds that a person has obtained compensation, medical treatment, or another benefit provided under this chapter, or that a provider has received a payment, by knowingly making a false or misleading statement or representation for the purpose of obtaining that benefit, the board shall order that person to make full reimbursement of the cost of all benefits obtained. Upon entry of an order authorized under this subsection, the board shall also order that person to pay all reasonable costs and attorney fees incurred by the employer and the employer's carrier in obtaining an order under this section and in defending any claim made for benefits under this chapter. If a person fails to comply with an order of the board requiring reimbursement of compensation and payment of costs and attorney fees, the employer may declare the person in default and proceed to collect any sum due as provided under AS 23.30.170 (b) and (c).

Alaska Rules of Civil Procedures, Rule 9. Pleading Special Matters.
(b) Fraud, Mistake, Condition of the Mind.  In all averments of fraud or mistake, the circumstances constituting fraud or mistake shall be stated with particularity.  Malice, intent, knowledge, and other condition of mind of a person may be averred generally.

The Alaska Supreme Court, in Municipality of Anchorage v. Devon [124 P.3d 424, 429 (Alaska 2005)], adopted the board's test for fraud claims under AS 23.30.250(b).   To prevail on a fraud claim under subsection .250(b), “[t]he employer must show that (1) the employee made statements or representations; (2) the statements were false or misleading; (3) the statements were made knowingly; and (4) the statements resulted in the employee obtaining benefits.”  Shehata v. Salvation Army, 225 P.3d 1106, 1114 (Alaska 2010).   The standard of proof in subsection .250(b) cases is by a preponderance of the evidence.  DeNupptiis v. Unocal Corp., 
63 P.3 272, 278 (Alaska 2003).”   The Court declined “to read into the statute a legislative intent to incorporate all of the elements of common law fraud.”  Id. at 1115. 

However, the Court required “a causal link between a false statement or representation and benefits obtained by the employee.  Subsection .250(b) states the board ‘shall order reimbursement’ when it finds a person has ‘obtained compensation ... by knowingly making a false or misleading statement or representation for the purpose of obtaining that benefit.’  The plain language of the statute requires causation.  As a transitive verb, ‘obtain’ means ‘to gain possession of, esp[ecially] by intention or endeavor.’  [Webster’s II New College Dictionary 774 (3d ed. 2005)].  ‘By’ has many meanings, but the relevant definition for purposes of determining if reimbursement should be ordered is  ‘through the agency or action of.’  [Id. at 156].  The phrase ‘obtain by’ strongly suggests causation.  [Cf. Field v. Mans, 516 U.S. 59, 66, 116 S.Ct. 437, 133 L.Ed. 2d 351 (1995) (construing “obtain by” in Bankruptcy Code to require causation) . . . .].” Id.  The court went on to say, “Read as a whole, the statute requires the false statement or representation be a causal factor in the employer's payment of workers' compensation benefits.  [AS 23.30.250(b).  The fourth element set out in the Devon test requires causation, that is, ‘the statements or representations resulted in the employee obtaining a benefit.’  Devon, 124 P.2d at 429].”  Id.  Under AS 23.30.250(b) false or misleading statements or representations made by an employee must be made expressly for the purpose of obtaining benefits. 

Constitutionality of Alaska Workers’ Compensation statutes.

The Board does not have jurisdiction to determine the constitutionality of a statute.  The Alaska Supreme Court stated in Alaska Public Interest Research Group v. State, 167 P.3d 27, 36 (Alaska 2007), “administrative agencies do not have jurisdiction to decide issues of constitutional law” because an administrative agency’s powers are limited to the legislative grant of authority and are quasi-judicial entities.  See also, Wilson v. Eastside Carpet Co., AWCAC Decision No. 098 (February 2, 2009). 

8 AAC 45.072. Venue.  A hearing will be held only in a city in which a division office is located. Except as provided in this section, a hearing will be held in the city nearest the place where the injury occurred and in which a division office is located. The hearing location may be changed to a different city in which a division office is located if

(1) the parties stipulate to the change; 

(2) after receiving a party's request in accordance with 8 AAC 45.070(b)(1)(D) and based on the documents filed with the board and the parties' written arguments, the board orders the hearing location changed for the convenience of the parties and the witnesses; the board's panel in the city nearest the place where the injury occurred will decide the request filed under 8 AAC 45.070(b)(1)(D) to change the hearing's location; or 

(3) the board or designee, in its discretion and without a party's request, changes the hearing's location for the board's convenience or to assure a speedy remedy. 

In Voorhees Concrete Cutting v. Monzulla, AWCAC Decision No. 114 (August 6, 2009), the AWCAC reversed the decision denying Employer’s request to change venue to Anchorage from Fairbanks.  AWCAC held the board abused its discretion because it relied “on an impermissible consideration, its own interest, under 8 AAC 45.072(2) and because it lacked sufficient evidence to find that Fairbanks was a more convenient forum than Anchorage for the parties and witnesses.”  Id.  Employee appealed this decision to the Alaska Supreme Court, which on April 1, 2010, denied Employee’s emergency motion to stay AWCAC orders, thereby leaving venue in Anchorage (Supreme Court No. S-13640 Order).  Although the AWCAC in Municipality of Anchorage v. McKitrick, AWCAC Decision No. 136 (June 30, 2010), held it did not have authority to hear interlocutory decisions, McKitrick did not void prior AWCAC decisions involving interlocutory decisions.  


8 AAC 45.150(d), states:

A petition for a rehearing or modification based on an alleged mistake of fact by the board must set out specifically and in detail 

(1) the facts upon which the original award was based; 

(2) the facts alleged to be erroneous, the evidence in support of the allegations of mistake, and, if a party has newly discovered evidence, an affidavit from the party or the party's representative stating the reason why, with due diligence, the newly discovered evidence supporting the allegation could not have been discovered and produced at the time of the hearing; and 

(3) the effect that a finding of the alleged mistake would have upon the existing board order or award. 

V65.2 Malingering, American Psychiatric Association, Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fourth Edition (1994) (DSM-IV).

The essential feature of Malingering is the intentional production of false or grossly exaggerated physical or psychological symptoms, motivated by external incentives such as avoiding military duty, avoiding work, obtaining financial compensation, evading criminal prosecution, or obtaining drugs.   Under some circumstances, Malingering may represent adaptive behavior – for example, feigning illness while a captive of the enemy during wartime.

Malingering should be strongly suspected if any combination of the following is noted:

1. Medicolegal context of presentation (e.g., the person is referred by an attorney to the clinician for examination)

2. Marked discrepancy between the person’s claimed stress or disability and the objective findings

3. Lack of cooperation during the diagnostic evaluation and in complying with the prescribed treatment regimen

4. The presence of Antisocial Personality Disorder

Malingering differs from Factitious Disorder in that the motivation for the symptom production in Malingering is an external incentive, whereas in Factitious Disorder external incentives are absent.  Evidence of an intrapsychic need to maintain the sick role suggests Factitious Disorder.  Malingering is differentiated from Conversion Disorder and other Somatoform Disorders by the intentional production of symptoms and by the obvious, external incentives associated with it.  In Malingering (in contract to Conversion Disorder), symptom relief is not often obtained by suggestion of hypnosis. 

ANALYSIS

1) Did the board, sitting in Anchorage in 2010, have jurisdiction to hear Employee’s workers’ compensation claim?   

Under AS 23.30.008, a decision of the AWCAC has the force of legal precedent unless the Alaska Supreme Court reverses AWCAC on the issue.   Here, AWCAC issued an order changing venue from Fairbanks to Anchorage (Decision No. 114).  On April 1, 2010, the Alaska Supreme Court refused to stay this order.   Therefore, since the Alaska Supreme Court has not reversed AWCAC’s decision on venue to date, AWCAC Decision No. 114 is controlling authority in this matter.  Venue lies with the board sitting in Anchorage and the board had jurisdiction to hear the matters in this claim, which resulted in the decision in Monzulla XI.   

In fact, Employee admitted the board “had no choice but to honor the Commission’s challenged venue and stay orders placing venue in Anchorage and to proceed to hearing, because Commission orders control Board proceedings.”  (Employee’s reply brief).  Therefore, the board, sitting in Anchorage, had jurisdiction to hear Employee’s claim and Employer’s petition.  

2) Who cancelled Employee’s back surgeries previously approved and scheduled with 
Dr. Delamarter in California?

Employee initially refers to medical records from Dr. Peterson to support his assertion the adjuster and not Employee cancelled the scheduled surgery with Dr. Delamarter.  There is nothing in Dr. Peterson’s medical records, nor could there be, to indicate who cancelled the three scheduled surgeries.  Dr. Peterson did not see Employee after 2006.  Therefore, he would not have been in a position to ascertain when and why surgery was not performed in 2007.  The records of Dr. Peterson do not contradict the testimony of the adjuster at hearing.   

Employee attached Dr. Delamarter’s Surgery Checklist to his reply brief and this checklist further supports the finding Employee cancelled both the March and April surgeries.  The checklists do not contradict the adjuster’s testimony.  The checklist also shows Employee did not want to schedule surgery in August 2007 because he was undergoing some physical therapy.  Dr. Delamarter’s record reflects the first two surgeries were cancelled by Employee.   The August 2007 surgery was initially authorized by Employer but Employee did not follow through.  Following the October 2007 EME with Dr. Swanson, Employer controverted surgery and withdrew its authorization for Employee to have surgery with Dr. Delamarter.  Surgery with Dr. Delamarter was authorized by Employer in March, April and August 2007.  Employee, not Employer, cancelled those surgeries.  Employee’s representation Employer cancelled the surgeries scheduled and authorized in March, April and August was false and misleading and asserted for the purpose of obtaining benefits.   

Furthermore, the board found Adjuster Rush to be a credible witness and her testimony was Employee cancelled all 3 surgeries.  This testimony is supported by the notations in Dr. Delamarter’s records.    Employee’s contentions Employer actually cancelled his surgeries would appear to be made solely to discredit Adjuster Rush in order to make himself appear more sympathetic and believable.  

3) Is Concordant Discography an accepted diagnostic tool for back pain?

Both Employee and Employer accept evidence concordant discography is an accepted diagnostic tool for back pain.  The 2001 concordant discography was used by Dr. Stinson when he treated Employee in 2001-2003.  This issue is not in dispute.  Concordant discography is an accepted diagnostic tool for back pain.

4) Is the 2001 Concordant Discography relevant to evaluating Employee’s back condition in 2011?

The true challenge of any diagnostic test is its ability to predict the outcome of patient treatment based upon the results of the test.  If the diagnostic test reveals a condition amenable to treatment, based upon the test results the appropriate treatment can be determined and provided.  However, conditions change; they wax and wane.  They can heal or degenerate.  

In the instant matter, the concordant discography undertaken in 2001 is simply not relevant to Employee’s current back condition.  It is not relevant to determine if back surgery in 2011 is reasonable and necessary.  It is a decade old and out of date by 10 years.  Rather the 2007 and 2009 MRIs are better evidence of the current state of Employee’s back and these MRIs show his back has improved since 2001.  The 2007 and 2009 MRIs are more probative of Employee’s actual physical condition.  

Employee further contends because concordant discography is an accepted diagnostic tool he should be entitled to have a new discography performed to ascertain his current condition.  However, given the improvement in Employee’s back as seen on the 2007 and 2009 MRIs, Employee has not demonstrated by a preponderance of the evidence that such a test procedure will be useful, reasonable or necessary.  Dr. Swanson is a credible witness and he opined Employee needed no further surgery or narcotic medications as a result of the 1999 work injury especially given the improvement on the MRIs and Employee’s ability to undertake the physical activity seen on the videotapes.  Dr. Swanson’s testimony is supported by Employee’s demonstrated physical capacities as seen in the videotapes and the testimony of various witnesses at hearing, including 
Mr. Baker, Mr. Burkhardt and Mr. Gephardt.  The preponderance of the evidence supports the board’s findings Employee has improved since the original injury and an updated discography will provide no additional informative or otherwise useful evidence.

5) Did Employee violate AS 23.30.250 when he submitted a receipt for hot tub use to Employer’s adjuster and asked for payment?

Employee submitted receipts to Employer for reimbursement for costs incurred in using his neighbor’s hot tub.  Employee also reported to Dr. Davidhizar he got relief from the use of his neighbor’s hot tub.  However, Mr. Baker’s credible testimony at hearing was Employee had neither used his  hot tub nor paid him for use of his hot tub.  Nonetheless, Employee submitted a receipt from Mr. Baker to Employer stating he spent $700.00 for use of his neighbor’s hot tub.  He was paid $700.00 by Employer as reimbursement for the use of this hot tub.  The credible evidence was Employee had never used the neighbor’s hot tub and never paid the neighbor for use of the hot tub.  

Employee’s submission of a receipt for hot tub use and acceptance of reimbursement for hot tub use are fraudulent actions by Employee.  Employee willfully and knowingly submitted false information to Employer for the express purpose of being reimbursed.  Employer paid Employee the requested reimbursement and then learned Employee had not used the hot tub nor paid for use of the hot tub.  Employee violated AS 23.30.250 by submitting a claim for reimbursement which was without foundation.  

6)  Did Employee misrepresent his physical capacities in order to obtain ongoing narcotic prescriptions?

When Employee was examined by the SIME physician Dr. Blackwell, he exhibited pain behaviors that seemed excessive, and reported he had increased pain with reaching, twisting, bending, leaning, and lifting more than 15 pounds.  Employee reported he was only able to walk for 20 minutes and sit for only one hour and said he had not worked since 2000.  Dr. Blackwell found a discrepancy between Employee’s presentation and the level of physical activity seen on the videotapes.

Employee was selective in what he reported to Dr. Davidhizar.  For example, Employee told Dr. Davidhizar his back improved with hot tub use.  Employee did not use a hot tub.  Such a report was made for the express purpose of obtaining ongoing medical treatment.  Likewise, Employee did not tell Dr. Davidhizar in May 2006, Employee had been working 10 hours a day.  Dr. Davidhizar’s credible testimony indicates such information was critical in determining the nature of Employee’s condition and the kind of treatment, if any, was required for the nature of Employee’s injury or the process of recovery.  Moreover, Dr. Davidhizar recommended Employee not have surgery but should exercise to strengthen his back.  
Taken together, the misinformation provided to the SIME physician, the lack of muscle atrophy seen by the EME physician, and the inconsistencies in Employee’s reports to Dr. Davidhizar (not reporting increased pain when it might logically have developed while working at the saw mill and reporting relief from hot tub use which did not occur), add up to attempts to manipulate Employee’s physicians into prescribing ongoing treatment including narcotics.  The credible evidence including the improvement seen on the 2007 and 2009 MRIs, is that Employee has arthritis for which narcotics are not the recommended treatment and for which exercise is recommended.  Therefore, Employee misrepresented his physical capacities in order to obtain ongoing narcotic prescriptions and medical benefits, including hot tub use and back surgery. 

7) Is Employee entitled to a new FCE?

The 2007 and 2009 MRIs are the best evidence of the physical condition of Employee’s back.  The videotapes demonstrate the kind of physical activity Employee is able to undertake.  A FCE is unlikely to provide new information and is more likely to be simply redundant information.  Therefore, a new FCE will not be ordered.  

8)  Is Employee now malingering from the effects of his 1999 work injury?

Employee has never been diagnosed with malingering using the DSM-IV.  Dr. Swanson stated Employee demonstrated some characteristics which fit the DSM-IV definition of malingering.  However, he did not diagnose Employee as a malinger.  There is no medical record in the board’s record from a medical doctor stating Employee is diagnosed as malingering.  Therefore, the board does not have substantial evidence before it to demonstrate Employee is malingering, as a medical diagnosis.

Under the DSM-IV, malingering is “the intentional production of false or grossly exaggerated physical or psychological symptoms, motivated by external incentives.”  Dr. Swanson is not a psychiatrist and neither are any of the other physicians who have evaluated Employee in this matter.  However, in all likelihood, had Employee been evaluated by a psychiatrist, his behavior would be determined to meet the definition of malinger in the DSM-IV.  Employee grossly exaggerated his physical symptoms.  He reported he had not worked since 2002, when in actuality, he worked in a saw mill for an extended period of time.  He was also motivated by external incentives; specifically, Employee wished to obtain narcotics, he wished to obtain a physician’s order for hot tub use, he wished for Employer to pay for first class tickets for his wife and himself to California to access back surgery, he wished for Employer to provide back surgery as a medical benefit under the workers’ compensation Act.  Under the DSM IV, malingering is strongly suspected if two or more specific criteria are combined.  Of these criteria, Employee meets at least two:  1) medico-legal context of presentation; and 2) marked discrepancy between the Employee’s claimed disability and the objective findings.  A finding Employee is malingering is not being made due to lack of psychiatric expertise.

9)  Should Dr. Swanson and Employee be ordered to produce copies of their respective recordings of the October 16, 2007, examination?

Employee did not make an argument at hearing these recordings existed and should be produced.  In point of fact, if Employee has a recording of the examination and had wished to have the board consider it at hearing, Employee should have introduced it into evidence.  At this point these recordings, if they exist, would add nothing to the record at hearing, and so shall not be ordered to be produced.  

In previous cases, petitions for modification have been denied and dismissed where the petitioner did not meet the conditions required for modification under 8 AAC 45.150(d).  Travers v. Yen King Restaurant, AWCB Decision No. 98-0176 (July 1, 1998); Griffiths v. Andy’s Body & Frame, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 05-0118 (April 28, 2005); Carrillo v. Johnson’s Tire Service, AWCB Decision No. 03-0260 (October 31, 2003); Briody v. Price/Ahtna, J.V., AWCB Decision No. 97-0262 (December 30, 1997). Employee has not satisfied the conditions required for rehearing / reconsideration under 8 AAC 45.150(d).  
Further, 8 AAC 45.150(d)(2) requires that Employee to set out specifically and in detail the facts alleged to be erroneous, the evidence in support of the allegations of mistake, and, if Employee has newly discovered evidence, an affidavit stating the reason why, with due diligence, the evidence supporting the allegation could not have been discovered and produced at the time of the hearing.  In the instant matter, Employee has given no specific information or details regarding the tape recordings with which it requests to supplement the record to support its allegations of mistake.  Moreover, Employee failed to provide an affidavit explaining why the evidence with which it wishes to supplement the record could not have been produced contemporaneous with the hearing held over a period of three days in April and August 2010. 
The Alaska Supreme Court in looking at civil rules governing motions for reconsideration also has refused to allow additional evidence.   Here, Employee’s  proffered evidence – the tape recording of the EME –  is evidence that Employee had prior to hearing and is within Employee’s control.  Employee could have been submitted the tape at hearing but chose not to do so.  There is no evidence anything said on the tape would contradict the finding Employee is not credible and exaggerated his condition to obtain ongoing medical treatment, including narcotic prescriptions.  

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
1) The board, sitting in Anchorage in 2010, had jurisdiction to hear Employee’s workers’ compensation claim.

2) Employee cancelled the two back surgeries authorized by Employer and scheduled with 
Dr. Delamarter in California for March and April 2007.  A third surgery was tentatively scheduled for August, but postponed at Employee’s request.  This surgery was authorized; although, authorization was subsequently withdrawn by the adjuster following the October 2007 EME. 

3) Concordant Discography is an accepted diagnostic tool for back pain.

4) The 2001 Concordant Discography is no longer relevant to evaluating Employee’s back condition in 2011.

5) Employee violated AS 23.30.250 when he submitted a receipt for hot tub use to Employer’s adjuster and asked for payment for hot tub use he did not undertake.

6) Employee misrepresented his physical capacities in order to obtain ongoing medical benefits, including narcotic prescriptions and back surgery.

7) Employee is not entitled to a new Functional Capacities Evaluation (FCE).

8) Employee has not been diagnosed as a malinger.

9) Recordings, if any exist, taken by either Employee or Dr. Swanson, of the October 2007 EME will not be ordered to be produced.


ORDER

Employee’s petition for reconsideration is denied.

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska on June 22 , 2011.
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APPEAL PROCEDURES

This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Effective November 7, 2005 proceedings to appeal must be instituted in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board. If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the Board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied due to the absence of any action on the reconsideration request, whichever is earlier. AS 23.30.127

An appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from and 2) a statement of the grounds upon which the appeal is taken.  A cross-appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  AS 23.30.128

RECONSIDERATION

A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION

Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Final Decision and Order on Reconsideration in the matter of KENNETH L. MONZULLA employee/petitioner; v. VOORHEES CONCRETE CUTTING, employer; ALASKA NATIONAL INSURANCE COMPANY, insurer / Respondents; Case No. 199922832; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, on June 22, 2011.
















Kimberly Weaver, Clerk
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� These Conclusions of Law have been renumbered for this decision in order to avoid confusion with the additional Findings of Fact. 


� These items have also been renumbered for this decision and order to avoid confusion.
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